# FILE COPY



### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 22-0070

(Civil Action No. 21-C-340

CRAIG BLAIR, President of the West Virginia Senate, ROGER HANSHAW, Speaker of the West Virginia House of Delegates, JAMES C. JUSTICE II, Governor of West Virginia,

Petitioners,

v.

SAM BRUNETT and ROBERT McCLOUD,

Respondents.

# FROM FILE

DO NOT REMOVE

### **OPENING BRIEF OF PETITIONERS**

#### PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

#### **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

The Circuit Court of Kanawha County preliminarily enjoined Governor James C. Justice II from enforcing House Bill 2012 of the 2021 Legislative Session ("HB 2012"), which empowers the Professional Charter School Board ("PCSB") to authorize charter schools in West Virginia. This Court stayed that preliminary injunction. Now it should dissolve it based on the following:

I. The circuit court should have dismissed the case for lack of standing, as the Petitioners—the Governor, as well as West Virginia Senate President Craig Blair and West Virginia House of Delegates Speaker Roger Hanshaw—are not responsible for enforcing the challenged law.

- II. The circuit court's order purports to enjoin a nonparty and compel the Governor's exercise of purely discretionary authority, violating the separation of powers.
- III. A preliminary injunction is not justified because Respondents are unlikely to succeed on the merits and the injunction will cause Petitioners and the public irreparable harm.

#### INTRODUCTION

Respondents here sued the wrong parties. None of the Petitioners are responsible for enforcing HB 2012. And none have power to authorize the charter schools Respondents oppose— the statute assigns that task to the PCSB. Yet Respondents chose not to sue that agency. The circuit court should have thus dismissed this suit for lack of standing; instead, it wrongly overlooked that failing. This Court should not. Respondents' own litigation choices erased their claim for standing because the parties they did sue did not cause their alleged harms and could not redress them moving forward. Indeed, any relief the circuit court could appropriately grant against Petitioners would not block any charter schools the PCSB authorizes under HB 2012.

Nor could the circuit court shore up Respondents' standing problems by ordering the Governor to direct the PCSB's members not to authorize charter schools. This purported remedy highlights the illogic of the PCSB's absence from the case—Respondents' actual quarrel is with the agency, but the circuit court lacked power to bind a *non*party, so it tried to order the Governor

to do so instead. Worse still, this novel approach violates the separation of powers by invading the Governor's discretionary removal powers. This Court has never sanctioned such an intrusion into executive discretion before, and it should not start now.

These foundational defects should end the case. But even setting them aside, the Court should reverse because the preliminary injunction factors favor Petitioners. Since the West Virginia Constitution's ratification, no court has held that an act of the Legislature ran afoul Article XII, section 10's requirements for independent school districts. The circuit court erred when it found that it was likely to be the first. Instead, this Court has held—twice—that the Legislature may create new schools without a countywide vote as long as the geographic territories of existing school districts do not change. So because the charter schools HB 2012 permits would not alter existing school district borders, there is no constitutional requirement to hold a countywide vote before they can open. Respondents are thus exceedingly unlikely to prevail on the merits.

Respondents are also not entitled to preliminary relief because they will not suffer irreparable harm during litigation. Respondents claim that HB 2012 deprives them of the right to vote, but they will be able to exercise whatever right Article XII, section 10 gives them at the end of this case. In contrast, Petitioners and the public will suffer irreparable harm if the Court affirms the preliminary injunction. The Governor will be forced to choose between acquiescing to the circuit court's invasion of his discretionary removal powers or risking contempt of court. Already-authorized charter schools may not be able to open—nullifying the significant work they have done to be ready for the upcoming year, leaving the West Virginians they employ without jobs, and depriving the students who intend to enroll of the educational opportunities they offer.

The circuit court improperly ignored the defects in Respondents' standing, the separation of powers violation its novel remedy creates, and the irreparable harms its hasty injunction will visit on Petitioners and the public. This Court should reverse.

#### STATEMENT

1. Article XII, section 10 of the West Virginia Constitution provides that "[n]o independent free school district, or organization shall hereafter be created, except with the consent of the school district or districts out of which the same is to be created, expressed by a majority of the voters voting on the question." This provision's history shows that it was included in the 1872 Constitution to govern efforts to *reshape* existing school districts. It was not meant to limit new schools that operate parallel to current district lines—like those HB 2012 permits.

During the post-Civil War era, West Virginia's public schools were administered by local townships, the precursors to the current magisterial districts. CHARLES H. AMBLER, A HISTORY OF EDUCATION IN WEST VIRGINIA 139 (1951). Each district typically "embraced . . . the boundaries of one township." *Kuhn v. Bd. of Ed. of Wellsburg*, 4 W. Va. 499, 510, 1871 WL 2753, \*9 (1871). The Legislature also created school districts independent of the township districts by passing special acts that carved out a new school district from the geographic territory of one or more existing township districts. *Casto v. Upshur Cnty. High Sch. Bd.*, 94 W. Va. 513, 517, 119 S.E. 470, 471 (1923). Typically, the Legislature placed these independent districts in "populous centers" of the State, ROBERT M. BASTRESS JR., THE WEST VIRGINIA STATE CONSTITUTION 334 (2d. ed. 2016), where students otherwise could not "receive instruction to the degree desired under the ordinary district system." *Casto*, 94 W. Va. at 516, 119 S.E. at 471. These districts were "independent of the general system in the length of the school term, employment of teachers,

branches taught and to what extent, [and] internal management generally." *Id.* Often, independent districts would also levy higher taxes on the property within their borders. *Kuhn*, 4 W. Va. at 500.

Under the State's original Constitution, the voters in the existing township district did not need to approve the Legislature's decision to create an independent district. In 1868, for example, the Legislature passed a special act creating "the school district of Wellsburg" by "annex[ing]" the territory of the Wellsburg Township and parts of two other adjacent townships. *Kuhn*, 4 W. Va. at 500. In an 1871 lawsuit challenging tax levies that the new independent school district imposed, this Court affirmed the district's taxing power and held that the Legislature had "exclusive power to create independent school districts, without the assent of the citizens residing therein." Syl. pt. 2, *Kuhn*, 4 W. Va. at 499.

A year later, the people adopted Article XII, section 10 "to nullify" *Kuhn*. BASTRESS, *supra*, at 333. The 1872 Constitution preserved all existing school districts, township and independent, and authorized the Legislature to make future changes to those district lines with the local voters' consent. *See* W. Va. Const. art. XII, § 6 (1872). When it came to new "independent free school district[s], or organization[s]," the Legislature had to get "the consent of the" voters in a "school district or districts out of which the same is to be created." W. Va. Const. art. XII, § 10. The purpose of this language was to prevent the Legislature from unilaterally "removing part of [the] territory" of an existing school district to make a new independent district. BASTRESS, at 333.

Though Article XII, section 10 remains in effect today, the Legislature abolished all "[e]xisting magisterial school districts and subdistricts and independent districts" in the State in 1933. W. Va. Code § 18-1-3 (1933). In their place, it established the current county-district system in which "all the territory" of each county comprises a single "school district." *Id.* 

2. Moving ahead 85 years, the Legislature passed comprehensive education reform in the First Extraordinary Session of 2019. W. Va. Acts 2019, 1st Sess., c. 31 (June 24, 2019). Among other things, this law established the process "for the creation, governance and oversight accountability of public charter schools." W. Va. Code § 18-5G-1(a) (2019). The Legislature designed this system to "empower new, innovative, and more flexible ways of educating" West Virginia's children, *id.* § 18-5G-1(b), and to "[p]rovide expanded opportunities *within* the public school[]" system "for parents to choose among the school curricula, specialized academic or technical themes, and methods of instruction that best serve the interests or needs of their child." *Id.* § 18-5G-1(b)(4) (emphasis added).

Specifically, any "parents, community members, teachers, school administrators, or institutions of higher education" that form a non-profit may apply to become a public charter school. W. Va. Code § 18-5G-2(1). Applications are submitted for approval to an "authorizer." *Id.* § 18-5G-6. If approved, the authorizer negotiates a contract with the charter school and provides oversight to ensure that it fulfills its statutory and contractual duties. *Id.* § 18-5G-6(a). Originally, the primary "authorizers" were the county boards of education ("BOEs") where the proposed charter schools would operate, with the State BOE empowered to take on this role in limited circumstances. *Id.* § 18-5G-2(2)(A)-(C). If the county BOE rejected the application, the statute provided no right to appeal that decision to the State BOE. *State ex rel. W. Va. Acad., LTD v. W. Va. Dep't of Ed.*, No. 21-0097, 2021 WL 2435876, \*4 & n.9 (June 15, 2021) (memorandum decision).

The Legislature changed that system when it enacted HB 2012 during the 2021 Session. W. Va. Acts 2021, c. 98 (June 1, 2021). This new law established an appeal process to the State BOE if an authorizer rejects an application. W. Va. Code § 18-5G-13 (2021). It also created the PCSB. *Id.* § 18-5G-15 (2021). This new agency consists of five voting members appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate. It "report[s] directly to" the State BOE, *id.* § 18-5G-15(a), and is subject to the State BOE's "general supervision" regarding the "standards for student performance," *id.* § 18-5E-5. The Legislature also empowered the PCSB to act as an authorizer to evaluate and approve charter school applications. *Id.* § 18-5G-2(2)(C).

To become a charter school through the PCSB process, an applicant submits an application that meets the requirements of West Virginia Code Section 18-5G-8 and West Virginia Code of Regulations Section 126-79-4. If the PCSB accepts the application, the school and the PCSB negotiate a contract that lays out the school's responsibilities and the expectations it "must meet to continue operating," W. Va. Code R. § 126-79-6.1.a, as well as its academic standards of performance, W. Va. Code § 18-5G-9(c). Charter schools have "autonomy over key decisions" like "finance, personnel, scheduling, curriculum, and instruction." *Id.* § 18-5G-3(b)(1). But they must provide the "same minimum number of" instructional days and meet the "same student assessment requirements" as noncharter schools. *Id.* § 18-5G-3(c)(5), (6). And unlike the now-obsolete independent school districts, they have "no power to levy taxes." *Id.* § 18-5G-3(b)(2).

A charter school's contract also "designate[s]" the school's "primary recruitment area." W. Va. Code § 18-5G-11(a)(4). A charter school must be "open for enrollment to all students of appropriate grade level" in that recruitment area, and a portion of state school aid "follow[s]" students who apply and are accepted "to the public charter school." *Id.* §§ 18-5G-11(a), 18-5G-5. Critically, the county BOEs maintain authority to "establish attendance zones within" their counties to "designate" the *noncharter* schools students must "attend." *Id.* § 18-5-16(a). A charter school's recruitment area "does not negate" those established "attendance" areas. *Id.* Nor does it create a requirement that "any student residing in the" recruitment area attend the charter school. *Id.* § 18-5G-11(a)(3). In other words, charter schools do not change any existing school district lines, but operate as an alternate option within the county system.

3. On September 29, 2021, Respondents Sam Brunett and Robert McCloud filed this action in circuit court alleging that any charter schools the PCSB authorized would be "independent free public school organizations." A.R. Vol. I, at 17. And because HB 2012 allows these organization "without the consent of" county voters, they claimed the statute violates Article XII, section 10. A.R. Vol. I, at 17. Respondents did not sue the PCSB; they named only the Governor, Senate President, and House Speaker. Respondents asked the circuit court for a writ of mandamus ordering Petitioners "to permit county residents the opportunity to vote on the creation of any PCSB-authorized charter schools"; an injunction preventing "the creation of any PCSB-authorized charter schools absent a vote of county residents"; and a declaration that HB 2012 is unconstitutional. A.R. Vol. I, at 17-18. Over a month later they filed a motion for preliminary injunction. Meanwhile, the PCSB authorized three in-person charter schools and two virtual charter schools. A.R. Vol. I, at 299-300.

Petitioners filed an opposition to the motion for preliminary injunction and a motion to dismiss. A.R. Vol. I, at 55-98. On January 20, 2022, the circuit court entered the order on appeal, which rejected Petitioners' motion to dismiss and granted the preliminary injunction. A.R. Vol. I, at 292.

The circuit court found first that Respondents had standing. A.R. Vol. I, at 304. It held that the Senate President and House Speaker were essential parties because the Legislature passed HB 2012 and the statute implicated their "mandatory duties respecting public education." A.R. Vol. I, at 304-05. Nevertheless, the court concluded that it did not need to "enjoin the Senate President and House Speaker." A.R. Vol. I, at 308. But it did not dismiss them from the case—it explained that it could not "exclude the possibility" of granting mandamus against these parties in the future. A.R. Vol. I, at 305-06, 308. The court also found that the Governor was a proper party for standing purposes because he "signed" HB 2012 "into law," appointed the PCSB's members, and is responsible for seeing that the State's laws are "faithfully executed." A.R. Vol. I, at 306.

The circuit court also found that the "PCSB's participation as a named party" was "unnecessary." A.R. Vol. I, at 309. Recognizing that Respondents were concerned about actions the PCSB would take, however, the court held that its injunction bound the PCSB anyway. A.R. Vol. I, at 309. Though the court could not directly bind a nonparty, it ordered *the Governor* to do so by "direct[ing] the PCSB, under threat of removal, if necessary, to temporarily suspend the creation of PCSB-authorized charter schools to comply with the preliminary injunction." A.R. Vol. I, at 308-09.

Finally, the circuit court found that the factors for a preliminary injunction weighed in Respondents' favor. A.R. Vol. I, at 310-11. The court concluded that Respondents are likely to prevail on their claim that HB 2012 permits "independent school organization[s]" "within existing school districts" in violation of Article XII, section 10. A.R. Vol. I, at 311. It also found that Respondents would be irreparably deprived of the right to vote if charter schools open while this litigation moves forward, and that this harm outweighed students' interests in attending charter schools and parents' increased educational options for the next one or more school years. A.R. Vol. I, at 319, 321. So it enjoined the "enforcement of [HB] 2012 in the creation of PCSB-authorized charter schools by the Governor, the Governor's executive officers, agents, or employees, and any persons acting in concert or participation with them." A.R. Vol. I, at 322.

On January 24, 2022, Petitioners appealed the preliminary injunction and sought a stay, which this Court granted on February 23, 2022.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court's order suffers from a jurisdictional defect: Respondents sued the wrong state officials. They claim that HB 2012 deprives them of rights under Article XII, section 10 because it allows the PCSB to authorize charter schools in the counties where they live. But instead of suing the PCSB, they chose to sue the Senate President, House Speaker, and Governor. This choice deprives them of standing, and the circuit court of jurisdiction, as to each of their claims. Their requests for injunctive and declaratory relief fail because none of the Petitioners caused the alleged injuries; they are not responsible for authorizing charter schools, and redressing those injuries requires an order against a nonparty—the PCSB. Relief in mandamus is similarly defective because, even if Respondents were right on the merits, Article XII, section 10 does not impose a non-discretionary obligation on Petitioners to hold a countywide vote on charter schools. It does not even empower these officials to convene a countywide vote. Instead, as Respondents concede, the Constitution gives the Legislature discretion to select the appropriate manner of complying with Article XII, section 10. Because the circuit court cannot direct or supervise Petitioners' performance of discretionary acts, Respondents have no injury mandamus can redress.

II. The circuit court's preliminary injunction is also overbroad and attempts to bind an independent nonparty by invading the Governor's discretionary power to remove members of the PCSB for "official misconduct, incompetence, neglect of duty, or gross immorality." W. Va. Code § 18-5G-15(g). This indirect approach to injunctive relief is not only an improper attempt to bypass Respondents' choice not to sue the correct party, but it violates the separation of powers along the way. The Court should dissolve the injunction on this structural constitutional ground, too.

III. The circuit court also abused its discretion by entering preliminary relief because each of the preliminary injunction factors favors Petitioners. First, Respondents are unlikely to succeed on the merits because Article XII, section 10's text and original meaning only prevent the Legislature from "carv[ing] out" or "annex[ing]" territory from a previously existing school district to "create[]" a new one. Casto, 94 W. Va. at 517, 119 S.E. at 472; see also Kuhn, 4 W. Va. at 500. It does not bar schools, like those under HB 2012, that leave "intact" "the territories of the [existing county] school districts." Casto, 94 W. Va. at 517, 119 S.E. at 472. Second, Respondents have not met their burden to show they will likely suffer irreparable harm-the Court has already made clear that the voting rights in question will be just as viable after this litigation ends. Third, Petitioners and the public are highly likely to suffer irreparable harm. If the preliminary injunction goes into effect, the Governor will face an untenable choice between agreeing to give up his discretionary removal powers or facing contempt. This serious separationof-powers concern alone causes irreparable harm. Plus, the charter schools the PCSB has already approved will not be able to open, delaying the educational opportunities they would otherwise provide for at least one full school year, and maybe more. That lost time can never be made up if Petitioners ultimately prevail. Because the circuit court abused its discretion finding otherwise, this Court should dissolve the circuit court's preliminary injunction and remand with directions to dismiss the suit.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioners request oral argument under Rule 20 because this case involves constitutional questions regarding the validity of HB 2012 and other issues of high public importance.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The "jurisdictional issues" raised in this appeal "are questions of law" subject to "de novo" review. *State ex rel. Univ. Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Wilson*, 239 W. Va. 338, 343, 801 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2017). Respondents bear the burden of establishing the circuit court's jurisdiction. *State ex rel. Healthport Techs., LLC v. Stucky*, 239 W. Va. 239, 242, 800 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2017). By comparison, a "three-pronged deferential standard of review" applies when this Court reviews a preliminary injunction. *Morrisey v. W. Va. AFL-CIO*, 239 W. Va. 633, 637, 804 S.E.2d 883, 887 (2017). The Court reviews "the final order granting the preliminary injunction and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard," the "underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard," and "questions of law de novo." *Justice v. W. Va. AFL-CIO*, 246 W. Va. 205,—, 866 S.E.2d 613, 619 (2021) (cleaned up).

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