DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-0070



CRAIG BLAIR, President of the West Virginia Senate, ROGER HANSHAW, in his Speaker of the West Virginia House of Delegates, JAMES C. JUSTICE, II, Governor of West Virginia,

Respondents Below, Petitioners



V.

SAM BRUNETT and ROBERT McCLOUD,

Petitioners Below, Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Bren J. Pomponio (WVSB # 7774) Mountain State Justice, Inc. 1217 Quarrier Street Charleston, WV 23501 (304) 344-3144 (304) 344-3145 (fax) bren@msjlaw.org Joshua E. Weishart (WVSB # 12639) P.O. Box 1295 Morgantown WV 26507-1295 (510) 295-8837 Joshua.Weishart@gmail.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Governor Justice's appeal is premised almost entirely on disclaiming responsibility for, and power to execute, H.B. 2012. It is a classic case of misdirection: Appellees are not seeking to

⁶ See Liz McCormick, Board Approves Contracts For W.Va. 's 5 Charter Schools, WEST VIRGINIA PUBLIC BROADCASTING (Mar. 15, 2022), https://www.wvpublic.org/section/education/2022-03-15/board-approves-contracts-for-w-va-s-5-charter-schools.

⁷ See Steven Allen Adams, Public Charter Schools Making Enrollment Progress in West Virginia, PARKESBURG NEWS & SENTINEL (JUN. 9, 2022), https://www.newsandsentinel.com/news/business/2022/06/public-charter-schools-making-enrollment-progress-in-west-virginia/.

enforce H.B. 2012, they are seeking to enforce section 10 *against* H.B. 2012. The Constitution vests Governor Justice with both the responsibility and power to execute section 10. That is why, with Appellees' standing here secured, Governor Justice must argue that the Court should either rewrite section 10 or consider it a dead letter. Obviously, the Court can do neither.

Accordingly, given Appellees' likelihood of success on the merits, Governor Justice's appeal is left in the untenable position of arguing that he somehow will be *irreparably injured* by complying with the Constitution but yet Appellees will suffer *no harm* if they are deprived of their constitutional right to vote. Neither argument merits the Court's serious consideration. At last, Governor Justice argues that H.B. 2012 effectively trumps section 10, upsetting the hierarchy of legal authority. But the People's sovereign will for direct democracy expressed in section 10 cannot be subverted in favor of their representatives' policy preferences.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellees request oral argument under Rule 20 because this case involves "issues of fundamental public importance," implicating "constitutional questions regarding the validity of a statute."

ARGUMENT

The Court reviews the grant of a preliminary injunction under a "three-pronged deferential standard of review," considering (1) "the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard," (2) "the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard," and (3) "questions of law de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, *Bansbach*, 229 W. Va. at 290, 728 S.E.2d at 536. Applying the abuse of discretion standard, this Court "will not disturb a circuit court's decision unless the circuit court makes a clear error of judgment or exceeds the bound of permissible choices in the circumstances." *Gribben v. Kirk*, 195 W. Va. 488, 500, 466 S.E.2d 147, 159 (1995). Even if this Court "may not necessarily have obtained the same result" as the circuit court below, a "mere

disagreement with such a ruling does not automatically lead to the conclusion that the lower court abused its discretion." *State v. Allen*, 208 W. Va. 144, 155, 539 S.E.2d 87, 98 (1999). Rather, the circuit court's "decision should not be overruled unless the reviewing court is actuated, not by a desire to reach a different result, but by a firm conviction that an abuse of discretion has been committed." *Id.*

It cannot be said with firm conviction that the circuit court's decision "exceeds the bounds of permissible choices." Nor has Governor Justice carried the burden of showing that the circuit court's factual findings underlying its legal conclusions were erroneous, much less *clearly* erroneous.

Concerning any unsettled questions of law that this Court reviews de novo, the applicable standard for the issuance of a preliminary injunction is a showing "of a reasonable likelihood of the presence of irreparable harm; the absence of any other appropriate remedy at law; and the necessity of a balancing of hardship test including: (1) the likelihood of irreparable harm to the plaintiff without the injunction; (2) the likelihood of harm to the defendant with an injunction; (3) the plaintiff's likelihood of success on the merits; and (4) the public interest." *Ne. Nat. Energy LLC v. Pachira Energy LLC*, 243 W. Va. 362, 366, 844 S.E.2d 133, 137 (2020).

Considering the "flexible interplay" between these four factors, see Jefferson Cnty. Bd. of Educ. v. Jefferson Cnty. Educ. Assoc., 183 W. Va. 15, 24, 393 S.E.2d 653, 662 (1990), the circuit court concluded that Appellees had "established the balance of the hardships weigh in favor of granting a preliminary injunction." (A.R. Vol. I at 311, ¶ 77.) This Court should affirm that decision because each of the preliminary injunction factors favors Appellees, starting with their likelihood of success on the merits which may be this Court's "primary focus" on the constitutional question. See Justice v. W. Va. AFL-CIO, 246 W. Va. 205, 866 S.E.2d 613, 620 (2021) ("Justice").

A. Appellees Are Likely to Succeed on the Merits

Appellees are likely to succeed on the merits because H.B. 2012 violates section 10 by establishing PCSB-authorized charter schools as independent school organizations, created in school districts, without the consent of affected county voters. It is that simple and straightforward. Governor Justice must therefore try to dodge and befuddle this suit, arguing that (1) Appellees sued the wrong parties, (2) the circuit court's order offends separation of powers, and (3) that section 10 does not apply to PCSB-charter schools. Each argument fails.

1. Appellees Have Standing

Governor Justice's primary argument is that Appellees sued the wrong parties and thus lack standing. His counsel did not challenge Appellees' factual allegations regarding injury in fact when asked directly by the circuit court about their individual standing. (A.R. Vol. II at 410–411.) And the circuit court indeed concluded that Appellees have adequately alleged injury in fact. (A.R. Vol. I at 304, ¶50.) Governor Justice yet maintains on appeal a lack of causation and redressability.

On those requirements, it is telling that Governor Justice relies mostly on federal court decisions. Though perhaps informative, this Court is not bound "the constraints of Article III" or federal "limitations of case or controversy" as interpreted by federal courts. *ASARCO Inc. v. Kadish*, 490 U.S. 605, 617 (1989). In West Virginia courts, standing is a prudential, not constitutional, requirement that has been developed in reference to decisions on declaratory judgments. *See Findley v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 213 W. Va. 80, 94–95, 576 S.E.2d 807, 821–22 (2002). Hence, diverging from federal court doctrine, this Court has permitted more generalized grievances "brought by any citizens, taxpayer, or voter" to effectuate public rights, like the one at issue here. *See Smith v. W. Va. State Bd. of Educ.*, 170 W. Va. 593, 596, 295 S.E.2d 680, 683 (1982).

Respecting standing, the Court has held that each person "in our system of government has

the *right* to expect that [their] elected officials, agents and appointees shall comply with the law." *Shobe v. Latimer*, 162 W. Va. 779, 790, 253 S.E.2d 54, 61 (1979) (emphasis added). That is precisely the point of this action.

a. Governor Justice is Causally Connected to Appellees' Injuries

Standing requires a "causal connection [between] the injury and the conduct forming the basis of the lawsuit." Syl. Pt. 5, *Findley*, 213 W. Va. at 94, 576 S.E.2d at 821. A substantial part of the conduct that forms the basis of this action surrounds H.B. 2012. Governor Justice signed H.B. 2012 into law but now protests that if that alone were sufficient to form a causal connection, then any governor could be hauled into court whenever a bill he signed into law becomes the basis for a lawsuit. Not so. There are two limiting principles in effect here.

First, Governor Justice was on notice, prior to signing H.B. 2012, that it had a constitutional infirmity conflicting with section 10. That conflict was a widely reported point of contention when the charter school law was first debated in the Legislature, as the circuit court found. (A.R. Vol. I at 295, ¶ 14.) It did not escape the attention of Governor Justice, who called a special session on education, when that first charter school bill failed. (*Id.* at 296, ¶ 17.) The section 10 conflict was also the reason that the 2019 charter school law enacted during that special session made school boards the primary authorizers, so that school-board-authorized charter schools would not be "independent" and thereby trigger section 10. (*See id.* at 296–97, ¶ 21.) And yet, that independence was a motivation for the 2021 changes to the charter school law—H.B. 2012 and its establishment of PCSB as a charter school authorizer. (*See id.* at 297–99, ¶¶ 23–27.) Notwithstanding the bill's checkered history, Governor Justice signed H.B. 2012 into law. (*Id.* at 299 ¶ 28.) He has not and cannot now show that these factual findings are clearly erroneous.

So, no, not every bill that a governor signs into law causally connects him with a lawsuit.

The vast majority of bills, drafted with the assistance of counsel, have no facial constitutional infirmity, most bills certainly do not earn such high-profile notoriety. But where, as here, the infirmity is so credibly and publicly alleged *and* the attempt to circumvent that infirmity is the whole purpose for the challenged bill, then, yes, a governor who signs such a bill into the law is casually connected to the inevitable lawsuit.⁸ This, of course, would not make the governor automatically at fault for signing the bill—the governor's interpretation of the law might be correct, or he might otherwise have a valid defense—but it should be *at least* sufficient for standing purposes, as the Court has made clear in that context, the People have "the right to expect" and demand his compliance with the law. *Shobe*, 162 W. Va. at 790, 253 S.E.2d at 61.

Second, and alternatively, Governor Justice failed to discharge his special duty to the Constitution to execute section 10 *after* signing H.B. 2012 into law. *See* W. Va. Const. art. 7, § 5; *Cooper v. Gwinn*, 171 W. Va. 245, 256, 298 S.E.2d 781, 792 (1981) ("[T]he Governor, as chief executive officer has a duty to faithfully expedite the will of the people as expressed in the Constitution."). That special duty would not have necessarily precluded Governor Justice from signing H.B. 2012 into law in the first place, provided that he otherwise complied with section 10 by fixing times for special elections in the affected counties, as section 10 requires. His failure to do so provides another causal connection to Appellees' injuries.

To be sure, as Governor Justice observes, some federal courts have concluded—in the context of claims barred by the Eleventh Amendment—that a governor's "general duty to enforce state laws does not make him a proper defendant in every action attacking the constitutionality of a state statute." *See Waste Mgmt. Holdings, Inc. v. Gilmore*, 252 F.3d 316, 331 (4th Cir. 2001).

⁸ At best, Governor Justice was deliberately indifferent to prior notice of H.B. 2012's constitutional infirmity which may, in other contexts, establish a causal link to constitutional injuries sufficient to confer standing. *Cf. Randall v. Prince George's Cnty.*, *Md.*, 302 F.3d 188, 206 (4th Cir. 2002).

Other federal courts, however, have concluded that a governor's general duty to enforce "the laws of the state" can satisfy standing requirements. *See Petrella v. Brownback*, 697 F.3d 1285, 1294 (10th Cir. 2012); *Hernandez v. Grisham*, 499 F.Supp.3d 1013, 1052 (D.N.M. 2020) (same).

This Court need not resolve that split of federal authority. Those federal courts that have insisted on a governor's specific or special duty deem it necessary for suit in *federal court* under the *Ex parte Young* exception to the Eleventh Amendment. *Gilmore*, 252 F.3d at 331. Although the U.S. Supreme Court recognized that permitting suit without that "special relation" to the challenged statute "would be a very convenient way for obtaining a speedy judicial determination of questions of constitutional law," it judged a special relation important *because of the Eleventh Amendment*—"it is a mode which cannot be applied to the states of the Union consistently with the fundamental principle that they cannot, without their assent, be brought into any court at the suit of private persons." *Ex parte Young*, 209 U.S. 123, 157 (1908).

The Eleventh Amendment presents no such barrier here and therefore this Court should not labor under that line of reasoning. Other state supreme courts recently have not "because of the unique powers and responsibilities vested in the office of the Governor by [their] state constitution." See, e.g., Holcomb v. City of Bloomington, 158 N.E.3d 1250, 1257 (Ind. 2020); Metro. Gov't of Nashville & Davidson Cnty. v. Tenn. Dep't of Educ., __S.W.3d __, 2022 WL 1561546, at *5 (Tenn. May 18, 2022) (concluding that plaintiffs had standing against governor in action challenging bill signed into law violative of state constitutional amendment).

This Court will also, of course, be guided by its own precedents and our own Constitution.

To that end, in the most recent constitutional challenge brought against Governor Justice, this

Court decided the propriety of a preliminary injunction that was more far reaching than the one at

issue here, "enjoining [a] new law from taking effect," even though Governor Justice had no

special or specific duties to enforce the challenged bill, H.B. 2009, that he signed into law. *Justice*, 246 W. Va. 205, 866 S.E.2d at 617. In fact, the commissioner of labor, not the governor, is explicitly charged with enforcing certain statutory provisions affected by H.B. 2009. *See* W. Va. Code § 21-5-11.

Justice and Governor Justice's current position cannot be reconciled—the former is binding precedent; the latter is unpersuasive argument.

Governor Justice's current position also cannot be reconciled with other decisions of this Court that did not dismiss the governor for lack of standing despite no evidence of any special or specific duty under the challenged statute. See, e.g., State ex rel. League of Women Voters of W. Va. v. Tomblin, 209 W. Va. 565, 568, 550 S.E.2d 355, 358 (2001) (mandamus petition challenging budget digest practices required by W. Va. Code § 4–1–18 (1969)); W. Va. Educ. Ass'n v. Consol. Pub. Ret. Bd., 194 W. Va. 501, 507, 460 S.E.2d 747, 753 (1995) (mandamus action contending unconstitutional administration of unfunded liabilities under W. Va. Code 18–9A–6a(c)); McGraw v. Caperton, 191 W. Va. 528, 531, 446 S.E.2d 921, 924 (1994) (declaratory action for a "determination of his rights and responsibilities under W. Va. Code § 5A–3–13").

None of this is to suggest that a governor is a proper defendant in *every* constitutional challenge to a law that he signs and has a general duty to execute. Nor does resolving this appeal require the Court to foresee and delineate all the potential circumstances that could casually link a governor with a challenged law. *See State v. Whittaker*, 221 W. Va. 117, 122, 650 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2007) ("Courts are not constituted for the purpose of making advisory decrees or resolving academic disputes."). Rather, the Court can and should decide this matter based on the particular facts and law of *this case*: (1) the special circumstances of Governor Justice's prior notice of, and deliberate indifference to, H.B. 2012's constitutional infirmity before signing it into law or,

alternatively, (2) his failure to discharge his special duty to execute section 10 after signing H.B. 2012 into law. Each causally connects Governor Justice to the failure to act that forms the basis of this action and Appellees' injuries.

b. Governor Justice Is Empowered to Redress Appellees' Injuries

For there to be standing, "it must be likely that the injury will be redressed through a favorable decision of the court." Syl. Pt. 5, Findley, 213 W. Va. at 94, 576 S.E.2d at 821. Governor Justice challenges redressability both as to the circuit court's preliminary injunction as well as the underlying mandamus action in terms of Appellees' likelihood of success on the merits. Starting with the latter challenge, because the Court is without jurisdiction at this time to consider the denial of the motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the primary focus here will be to emphasize that the circuit court did not commit clear error of judgment in concluding a likelihood of success on mandamus relief against Governor Justice.

i. Governor Justice is Empowered to Provide Mandamus Relief

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